
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

 
 

 
 

Community & Leisure 
Cabinet Committee 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill 
Street, Gravesend DA12 1AU on Wednesday, 1 June 2022 at 7.30 pm when the business 
specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public  

1. Apologies   
 
2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 
3. Declarations of Interest   
 
4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 

considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public.  
 

 
5. Environmental Enforcement Strategy  (Pages 7 - 24) 
 
6. Neighbourhood Policing Review  (Pages 25 - 32) 
 
7. Sport & Recreation Strategy  VERBAL  

UPDATE  
 
8. Queen's Baton Relay  (Pages 33 - 40) 
 



9. Corporate Performance Report: Q4 2021-22  (Pages 41 - 52) 
 
10. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 

of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency.  
 

 
11. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any 
items included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that if members of the 
public are present during those items, there would be disclosure 
to them of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act. 

Part B  

Items likely to be considered in Private 

None.  

 

 

 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair) 
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Helen Ashenden 

Ejaz Aslam 
Gurjit Kaur Bains 
Harold Craske 
Aaron Elliott 
Nirmal Khabra 
Emma Morley 
Christina Rolles 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 



1

Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 
 

Monday, 14 March 2022 7.30 pm 
 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)  
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair)  
 
Councillors: Derek Ashenden 

Helen Ashenden  
Ejaz Aslam  
Emma Morley  
Christina Rolles  
Peter Scollard 
Frank Wardle  
 

Simon Hookway   Assistant Director (Communities) 
Anita Tysoe   Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services)  
Adrian Hickmott Leisure & Resilience Manager 
Rob Swain   Managing Director, Gravesham Community Leisure Ltd (GCLL) 
Carlie Simmonds  Committee Services Manager (Minutes) 
 
30. Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Gurjit Bains and Aaron Elliott. Cllrs Derek 
Ashenden and Frank Wardle attended as their respective substitutes.  
 
An apology for absence was also received from Cllr Harold Craske.  
 
31. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 1 February 2022 were signed by the Chair. 
 
32. Declarations of Interest  
 
Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox declared an interest in the items listed on the agenda as he is a 
Council appointee on Gravesham Community Leisure Limited (GCLL) and The Gr@nd CIC.  
 
Cllr Peter Scollard declared an interest in the items listed on the agenda as he is a Council 
appointee on Gravesham Community Leisure Limited (GCLL). 
   
33. Draft Strategy - Youth & Community, Health & Wellbeing Strategy  
 
The Committee was presented with the draft Youth & Community, Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy. 
 
The Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services) advised that the Council had a duty 
to take such steps, as it considered appropriate, to improve the health of the people in its 
area, including the provision of information, services or facilities to promote healthy living. 
Whilst responsibility under the Health & Social Care Act 2021 sat predominantly with County, 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 14.03.2022

2

as upper tier authority, Gravesham was best placed to understand the needs of its 
communities and how best to work with partners and delivery bodies to ensure those needs 
were met.  
 
The Council recognises the impact of health inequalities and that ensuring a healthy 
community and healthy lifestyle remains a priority.  
 
The draft strategy sets out a vision to ensure the health, wellbeing and youth offer for 
Gravesham’s community is fit for 2022 and beyond and focusses on three strategic 
objectives:- 
 

  A Health & Wellbeing Offer to be Proud of – enabling Gravesham to be a healthy and 
safe place; 

  A Youth and Community Offer to be Proud of – supporting, involving and engaging 
the young people of Gravesham in their Borough; and 

  A partnership led offer - working with community organisations and sector specialists 
to deliver a relevant and responsive offer. 

 
The strategy document sets out a working action plan which will inform the direction of work 
across the life of the strategy. 
 
The Committee considered the draft strategy and highlighted the following:- 
 

  the Council to work closely with schools, local GP surgeries and minority ethnic 
groups in particular the Muslim Community; 

  encourage bespoke exercise classes for women; 
  consideration be given to an ‘over 65s/senior’ campaign – this will not only improve 

health but also tackle loneliness etc; 
  consideration be given to pop up shops in order to connect with local communities in 

all wards; 
  promote the activities/provisions available to those who may have constraints on their 

finances; 
  promote that people do not need to be members of a gym in order to have a healthy 

lifestyle; and 
  the activities/provisions available form part of the local services directory. The 

directory to be more prominent on the Council’s website. Digital Boards within the 
Borough could also be explored as a way of promoting services etc.  

 
Resolved that, taking into account the comments fed back by the Committee Members, 
that the strategy be agreed and formally adopted. 

 
34. Gravesham Community Leisure - oral update from Rob Swain, Managing 
 Director, Gravesham Community Leisure Ltd (GCLL)  
 
The Committee received a presentation from Rob Swain, Managing Director of Gravesham 
Community Leisure Ltd (GCLL) on the recovery of Cascades and Cygnets Leisure Centres 
from the pandemic. 
 
Both centres reopened in stages from April 2021. The Committee was presented with the 
pre and post-pandemic usage and income levels for the various facilities offered at both 
centres such as the gym, studio, sports hall, squash courts, swimming pool and health suite.    

Page 4



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 14.03.2022

3

 
The Managing Director of GCLL advised that the sector as a whole was facing a challenge 
to recover however the levels were encouraging and that there had been a rise in 
membership applications. 
 
Members were informed that the leisure centres had now been operating on behalf of the 
Council by GCLL for the last 22 years. The Managing Director of GCLL thanked the Council 
for its financial support through the long periods of closure during 2020 and 2021. 
 
The Committee thanked the Managing Director of GCLL for his informative presentation and 
highlighted the following:- 
 

  some members of the public may still be worried about COVID-19 and hesitant to 
attend indoor classes therefore could outdoor classes be considered/offered; and 

  the Leisure Centres to be promoted via Council strategies. 
 
The Committee thanked the Managing Director of GCLL and his team for their hard work 
and commitment throughout the pandemic. 
 
35. The development of a Sport, Leisure and Active Gravesham Strategy  
 
The Committee was presented with the draft Sport, Leisure & Active Recreation Strategy. 
 
The Leisure & Resilience Manager advised that the Communities Directorate had in recent 
times implemented two key strategies; Arts & Cultural Strategy and a Tourism & Heritage 
Strategy. The third related strategy that was currently being developed was a Sport, Leisure 
& Active Recreation Strategy. The portfolio of strategies will help to provide a sound and 
coherent framework for improving and enhancing leisure, culture and tourism, in its widest 
sense for the foreseeable future.  
 
It was widely recognised that taking part in physical activity through sport and active 
recreation has the ability to improve the quality of life for individuals and communities and 
deliver a range of social, health, economic and environmental benefits. Gravesham had 
large scale health inequalities and, whilst improvements had been made in recent years, the 
difference experiences across the Borough varies widely. The updated Sport, Leisure & 
Active Recreation Strategy included a number of key priorities and actions which will provide 
a framework for tackling inactivity, as well as linking in to the wider developments such as 
future facility provision within the Borough. 
 
The Leisure & Resilience Manager advised a section on the proposed redevelopment of 
Cascades Leisure Centre had been included within the strategy.  
 
In relation to the redevelopment of Cascades Leisure Centre, the Committee highlighted the 
following:- 
 

  consideration be given to the inclusion of a spa and health suite facility as it helps 
build both mental and physical health. The Leisure & Resilience Manager advised 
that the Council will be working with GCLL and experts to assess what 
provisions/facilities should be offered. There will also be a public consultation and the 
feedback received will be considered; 

Page 5



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 14.03.2022

4

  will the Regan’s Bar be required to close, if so, when. It was confirmed that the 
Regan’s Bar will close and that the Council’s Property Services Team was currently 
liaising with the leaseholders; and 

  consideration be given to holding a Member’s Briefing during the public consultation 
period in order for Members to share their views on the proposals/design.    

 
The Chair confirmed that there was no intention to close Cygnets Leisure Centre and that 
the strategy included reference to there always being two leisure centres that would be 
physically located to meet the needs of our residents.  
 
The Leisure & Resilience Manager informed the Committee that the strategy will go out to 
external consultation and an accompanying action plan will be developed.  
 
The Committee welcomed the strategy and agreed that, taking into account the comments 
fed back by the Committee Members, that the strategy be formally adopted under delegated 
powers following external consultation and development of an accompanying action plan. 
 
The Leisure & Resilience Manager advised that he would also provide the Committee with 
an update on the strategy following external consultation. 
 
36. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2021-22  
 
The Committee was presented with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Three 2021-22 
(October to December 2021). 
 
The Committee highlighted the following:- 
 

  the launch of St George's Arts Centre was successful and thanked Mandy Hare, 
Cultural Manager for her hard work. The Arts Centre had been widely applauded for 
the new opportunities that it gives to the cultural and artistic life of Gravesham; 

  the figures for the average weekly Borough Market footfall (PI 43) be looked into in 
more detail as it was felt that those figures were not being reflected within the High 
Street and surrounding shops. The Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural 
Services) advised that she would investigate this further. 

  there should continue to be a programme of pop up markets and themed activities 
within the Borough Market as it significantly increases footfall;  

  thanks be passed on to Tim Harris, Environmental Enforcement Manager and his 
team for the enforcement action/work that had been undertaken to date.  

  all Members be encouraged to sign up/support the White Ribbon campaign – the 
campaign helps to develop initiatives to tackle male violence against women and 
girls.  

 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 9.28 pm 
 

Page 6



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 

Date: 1 June 2022 

Reporting officer: Nick May, Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services 
Manager 
Tim Harris, Environmental Enforcement Manager 
 

Subject: Environmental Enforcement Strategy 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To report a draft Environmental Enforcement Strategy which sets out how and why the 
council enforces environmental crime, the powers available and the type of enforcement 
actions that the Council can take.  It reflects the positive enforcement actions that the Council 
has taken since the establishment of the Environmental Enforcement Team in September 
2020. 

Recommendations: 

1. The report is for information only and the Committee’s views on the draft 
Environmental Enforcement Strategy are welcome. 
 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal Gravesham Borough Council have a legal obligation to investigate 
environmental crime including fly-tipping offences. Investigating 
officers are required to be suitably trained and comply with 
environmental crime and investigative related legislation. 

Legal Services assist with prosecutions of larger fly-tip cases once 
all the evidence has been gathered and Court Files produced by 
the Environmental Enforcement Team. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

In 2021/22 the total cost to remove the fly tips in the borough was 
£131,135.    

The increased enforcement of environmental crime and 
successful publicised prosecutions will see a reduction in offences 
and resultant clear-up costs. 

Successful prosecution will lead to increased revenue from Fixed 
Penalty Notices (FPN) and costs recovered at Court, although the 
full cost of environmental enforcement activity, including clean-up, 
is only marginally off-set by the level of fines received. 
 
All income received from Fixed Penalty Notice income is ring-
fenced and must be used for environmental projects. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2 

Corporate Plan #1 People: Protected Environment 

Climate Change  Environmental Crime can cause serious pollution of the 
environment, can be a risk to human health and can harm wildlife 
and farm animals. 
 
The removal of fly tips has a negative impact on the Council’s CO2 
vehicle emissions.  Enforcement of fly tipping and reduction in 
offenses and resultant clear ups will positively impact the 
Council’s net zero objectives. 

 
 

1. Background 

1.1 Environmental Enforcement was identified as one of the key areas that residents 
wanted to see the Council prioritising and as such it was included within the 
Council’s Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy. Cabinet also made Environmental 
Enforcement a corporate priority within the Corporate Plan.  Enforcement of 
environmental crime legislation and robust action taken against offenders, to 
improve the overall cleanliness of the borough   

1.2 Therefore, the Gravesham Borough Council’s Environmental Enforcement Team 
was created in September 2020. Its remit is to tackle environmental crime in the 
borough and target those responsible for environmental anti-social behaviour. 

1.3 The Environmental Enforcement Team has taken a pro-active stance on littering 
by issuing Fixed Penalty Notices. Fixed Penalty Notices and Community 
Protection Warnings. Notices have also been issued to offenders involved in low-
level fly tipping offences.   

1.4 There have also been a number of large-scale environmental crime investigations 
conducted. They require thorough and protracted investigation involving the use of 
specialist powers under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and the 
Environment Act 1995 to ensure successful prosecution. 

2. Environmental Enforcement Strategy 

2.1 A draft Environmental Enforcement Strategy has been prepared to set out why 
and how the Council’s enforcement activity is undertaken.  This is attached as an 
Appendix to this report. 

2.2 The Committee is asked to comment on the draft prior to the strategy being 
finalised.  The final strategy document will be signed-off in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure. 

3. Appendices 

3.1 Appendix – Draft Environmental Enforcement Strategy.  

4. Background Documents  

4.1 There are no background documents. 

Lead Officer:  Nick May, Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager 

Email:  nicholas.may@gravesham.gov.uk  

Page 8

mailto:nicholas.may@gravesham.gov.uk


3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The Environmental Enforcement Team will robustly investigate serious 
environmental crime offences which will result in offenders being issued Notices or 
face prosecution and in turn act as a deterrent and reduce future offences of fly-
tipping and other waste crime in the Borough. 

Failure to robustly investigate serious environmental crime offences will result in 
offenders evading prosecution and the likelihood of increased offences of fly-tipping 
and other waste crime in the Borough. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Click here to start typing 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

Click here to start typing 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Fly-tipping is a particularly damaging form of anti-social behaviour which has a 
serious impact upon the communities in which it occurs.  It reduces individual 
security and degrades quality of life, often blighting neighbourhoods and 
undermining local investment. Serious illegal waste crimes have become more 
prevalent and often involve organised crime groups. 

The enforcement of environmental legislation and prosecution of offenders will 
result in the reduction of such offences which will in turn reduce the fear of crime 
and associated disorder. 

Digital and website 
implications 

The outcome of environmental enforcement activity, including Court prosecutions is 
communicated via social media.  Public response to enforcement activity has been 
overwhelmingly positive and this appears to be having an impact on reducing the 
number of incidents and reports being received. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

No direct implications. 

Page 9

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4 

 

Page 10



1 

Gravesham Borough Council Environment Enforcement Strategy. 

(Draft) 

 

  Forward (By Cllr MC). 
  Introduction. 
  Understanding the issue. 
  Key legislation.  
  Our Aims and Strategy. 
  The Environmental Enforcement Team. 
  How we investigate. 
  Levels of Enforcement. 
  Proactive Enforcement Action. 
  Reporting Fly tipping. 
  Enforcement action and outcomes. 
  The use of media in investigation and prevention. 

 

Forward 

………………………………………………………………….. 

Introduction 

Gravesham Borough Council is committed to maintaining a safe and healthy environment for 
its residents. The commitment recognises our responsibility to keep our streets and open 
spaces clear of litter and illegally deposited waste. Our communities raised the issue of fly 
tipping and environmental crime across the borough. As a result, the current administration 
committed to tackling the issue. Enforcement of environmental crime legislation became a 
priority and was included in the 2019-23 Anti-social behaviour strategy. It was soon 
recognised that a separate Environmental Enforcement Strategy was required to re-enforce 
our commitment to this pledge. 

The presence of fly tipped waste, litter and dog fouling has a serious and detrimental effect 
on our community, local businesses and landowners. It has an adverse effect on investment, 
health, safety and wellbeing. 

The Environmental Enforcement Strategy sets out our responsibilities and response to 
environmental crime in the borough. Our efforts rely on our residents, businesses, 
stakeholders and visitors taking personal responsibility for disposal of waste. Where this 
responsibility is lacking it is recognised that enforcement action may need to be taken. 

Gravesham Borough Council’s Corporate Plan for 2019-23 has committed to actively 
enforcing environmental standards, by using available powers to pursue anyone committing 
environmental crime or damaging the local environment. 

As a result, in September 2020 the authority created its first Environmental Enforcement 
Team, which is tasked with education and enforcement relating to environmental crime. 

 

 

Page 11



2 

Understanding the issue 

Fly tipping is a significant blight on the local environment. It is a source of pollution, a 
potential danger to public health, and a hazard to wildlife. It also undermines legitimate 
waste businesses when unscrupulous operators undercut those operating within the law.  

Local authorities have responsibilities relating to illegally deposited waste with certain 
obligations set out in legislation. These include clearance of waste and investigation of fly 
tipping offences. 

Between 2011 and 2019, the United Kingdom saw a steady rise in reports of fly tipping. This 
increase was echoed in reports to Gravesham Borough Council. Between April 2019 and 
April 2020 there were 3,269 reports of fly tipping to the authority. 

 

Key legislation 

The Environmental Protection Act 1990 sets out the main environmental offences.  

S.33 (1) (a) Fly tipping. 

 Depositing, knowingly causing or knowingly permitting the deposit of controlled waste or 
extractive waste on land without, or other than in accordance with, an environmental permit. 

Other subsections cover the transport, keeping and processing of controlled waste. 

Section 34. Duty of Care. 

This section covers an individual or body’s responsibility to ensure that controlled waste is 
collected, transported, stored and processed lawfully and responsibly.  

Section 87(1). – Littering offences 

Provides that a person is guilty of an offence if he throws down, drops or otherwise deposits 
any litter in any land or water open to the air and leaves it. 

The Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989 sets out a waste carrier’s responsibility to 
be registered with the Environment Agency to carry controlled waste.  

Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014. This legislation allows local 
authorities to issue notices to individuals whose behaviour has a continuing and detrimental 
effect on the community. This can cover behaviour such as failing to clean up after a dog or 

Page 12



3 

placing waste out for collection at the wrong time or in the wrong location. Breach of a notice 
can lead to the issuing of a fixed penalty fine or prosecution at court. 

Our Aims and Strategy 

Our aim is to reduce littering, dog fouling and the unlawful deposit of controlled waste 
throughout the borough. We will achieve this by tackling the issue through an escalation of 
enforcement; by using education, formal warning, serving of notices, issuing of fixed penalty 
fines, and if necessary, or appropriate, criminal prosecution at court. 

Our enforcement activities will be carried out in a fair, consistent and proportionate manner, 
focusing on education, but ensuring that those who flout the law face the consequences.    

 

We will challenge anyone involved in environmental crime, be it large scale fly tipping and 
illegal waste processing, littering or dog fouling. 

We will work with local residents, businesses, stakeholders and partners to prevent 
environmental crime and ensure that Gravesham is a borough in which they can be proud to 
live, work and visit. 

Our officers will seek to recover costs of investigation and clearance from offenders both for 
Gravesham Borough Council and on the behalf of anyone who is a victim of the crime. 

Whilst we cannot remove fly tipped waste from private land, we will thoroughly investigate 
offences on such land, prosecute offenders and seek compensation for landowners.  

The legislation under which we work and the penalties for environmental offences are set by 
central government and we have no control over this. However, it is our intention to seek and 
support the introduction of new laws and extend existing legislation that could assist our 

Page 13



4 

investigation and enforcement activities. We will also lobby for fixed penalty fines that reflect 
the seriousness of environmental crime and act as a genuine deterrent to future offending. 

 

The Environmental Enforcement Team 

The Environmental Enforcement Team is part of the Communities Directorate and is 
overseen by the Parking and Environmental Enforcement Manager. The team consists of an 
Environmental Enforcement Manager, two Street Scene Enforcement Officers, an 
Environmental Crime Investigator and two Environmental Crime Officers. 

Below is the current team structure – 

 

 

All officers working in the Environmental Enforcement Team have delegated powers and are 
authorised to carry out their duties. 

They receive initial and on-going in-house training and will attend external recognised 
enforcement training to ensure that they provide a professional service, which complies with 
current legislation and working practices. The ongoing training ensures that the team are up 
to date with legislation and ensures best practise within the service.  

Officers from the teamwork with partner agencies, including Kent boroughs and districts, the 
Police, the Environment Agency and Highways England. They will also work in partnership 
with Gravesham Borough Council’s internal teams, including Community Safety, Waste 
Management Unit, Legal Services and Housing. 

Page 14



5 

Street Scene Enforcement Officer (SSEO’s), carry out the initial investigation and 
enforcement of environmental offences, including littering, dog fouling and assist the 
Environmental Crime Officers with fly-tipping investigations and other environmental crime 
reports.  

SSEO’s will be required to carry out highly visible uniformed patrols, on foot and by vehicle, 
in urban and rural locations, across Gravesham.  SSEO’s will educate when possible but, 
when necessary will take enforcement action against offenders by issuing fixed penalty 
notices and community protection warnings and notices, for low-level environmental 
offences, such as littering and dog fouling and small scale fly tipping offences. They will 
patrol ‘hot spot’ areas identified from reports received from residents, businesses, council 
teams and partner agencies.  

 

Environmental Crime Officers and the Environmental Crime Investigator attend 
incidents of fly tipping and other more serious environmental offences, carrying out thorough 
investigations of environmental offences by searching waste, seizing evidence, carrying out 
local enquiries and obtaining evidence from witnesses.  

Where evidence of possible offenders can be found officers will carry out full investigations 
of the environmental offences and will take the appropriate enforcement actions. This may 
result in the issuing of a fixed penalty notice or, where necessary, submission of a full 
prosecution case file. This would involve taking witness statements and formally interviewing 
suspects. 

Enforcement Officers also participate in proactive and targeted multi agency projects such 
as Operation Assist and Operation Nightjar to detect and deter environmental crime. 

Officers are authorised in law and/or delegated by Cabinet to investigate environmental 
offences and can use the following powers: 

Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 

Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 

Control of Pollution (amendment) Act 1989. 

Environment Act 1995 

Environmental Protection Act 1990 

Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1994 (Investigative powers only) 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.  

Local Byelaws and regulations. 

 

 

 

Page 15



6 

How we investigate 

The Environmental Enforcement Team will investigate environmental offences that occur on 
public land and highways.  

They will also investigate offences on private land and areas administered by Kent County 
Council where evidence of an offender can be found.  The authority cannot however remove 
waste deposited on private land, as this is the responsibility of the landowner. However, 
following a successful prosecution, we will seek compensation for the landowner for any 
costs resulting from such clearance. 

Large-scale offences, those that involve toxic waste or are believed to be part of organised 
crime activity fall within the jurisdiction of the Environment Agency (E.A) These cases are 
passed to them for investigation.  Our Enforcement Officers will work in partnership with the 
E.A and will support their investigations where necessary. 

All reports of fly tipping received by Gravesham Borough Council are triaged by the 
Environmental Enforcement Manager. They remove duplicate reports and reports that do not 
constitute a fly tip such as litter or abandoned shopping trolleys. In cases where a report can 
be investigated, officers will attend the scene of an offence and search for evidence. They 
will also look for CCTV evidence and carry out house-to-house enquiries to identify 
witnesses.  

The officers may have to take multiple statements. 

If a person, who is suspected to be involved in an offence, is unable or unwilling to speak to 
the investigator, the officer will serve a notice on them requiring them to provide 
documentation, which could prove or disprove their involvement in an offence. The subject is 
given 14 days to respond to the notice. Failure to do so is itself a criminal offence and GBC 
officers have had a number of successful court prosecutions relating to this. 

If the suspect for the offence is cooperative, they will be invited to a formal interview, which 
is undertaken as a criminal interview under caution.  

If after the investigation, the investigator believes that they have enough evidence to prove 
an offence or offences they will produce a prosecution file.  The file is a substantial piece of 
work and can run into several hundred pages. It must include all statements, exhibits and a 
full written transcript of a formal interview, which in itself can take many hours to complete. 

After a prosecution file is completed, it is reviewed by the Environmental Enforcement 
Manager to ensure that there is sufficient evidence for prosecution and that the investigation 
has complied with all legal requirements. 

It is then submitted to the Gravesham Borough Council legal team who will further check its 
quality and arrange a summons to be served and a court date set.  Whenever a case is 
submitted, officers apply for costs from the defendant, which includes officer time and 
clearance costs.  

They will also seek compensation for anyone affected by the offence.  

 

 

 

Page 16



7 

The below flow chart gives a breakdown of the process when investigating and enforcing a 
routine fly tipping report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



8 

Levels of Enforcement 

1. Education  
 
Gravesham Borough Council realises that on occasions a lack of knowledge or 
understanding can result in unacceptable behaviour. Mistakes can be made and we 
recognise that members of the community sometimes need educating and advising 
about their responsibilities relating to the lawful disposal of waste.  
 
We use education to prevent offences re-occurring. For example, if a vulnerable resident 
is misled, or duped by an unscrupulous waste carrier resulting in an offence, appropriate 
advice and support will be given to ensure that the individual is not a victim of future 
offences. 
 
However, officers will still investigate, obtain evidence from the victim and prosecute 
anyone who victimises any vulnerable person.  
 
Street Scene Enforcement Officers patrol areas of concern and speak to residents and 
businesses, providing them with details of the borough’s services and, if necessary, 
signposting them to appropriate internal departments or outside agencies. 
 
In addition, the Environmental Enforcement Team work closely with the authority’s media 
and communications team and run a rolling media campaign that highlights the 
responsibilities of residents and businesses to back up and support the educational work 
of the enforcement team. 
 

2. Community Protection Warnings and Notices 
 
Using powers provided by the Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014, 
authorised officers from the Environmental Enforcement Team can issue warnings to 
individuals whose behaviour is having a lasting and detrimental effect on the community 
and neighbourhood. 
 
This can include the continued misplacement of household waste or putting household 
waste out for collection at the wrong time. Both of which can lead to vermin and other 
health hazards. 
 
In the initial instance, a warning must be issued stipulating what the resident or business 
must do to rectify the issue.  
 
If the warning is ignored a formal notice is served. If this is not complied with the offender 
can face a fixed penalty fine or a court prosecution. The maximum fine upon conviction is 
£2500. 
 
The authority may also seek a Community Behaviour Order from the court to ensure that 
the detrimental behaviour is stopped for up to 5 years. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



9 

3. Fixed Penalty Notices. 
 
Authorised officers can issue Fixed Penalty Notices to offenders involved in low-level 
environmental crime.  
These include: 

  Dog Fouling. 
  Littering. 
  Small scale fly tipping offences. 
  Breaches of a Community Protection Notice. 
  Failing to produce waste carriage documents. 
  Failing to register as a waste carrier with the Environment Agency. 
  Failing to comply with a householder’s duty of care to ensure the lawful disposal 

of controlled waste. 
 

Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) allow the offender to pay a fine and discharge criminal 
liability for an offence. They allow offenders to avoid court prosecution and a possible 
criminal record. FPNs will only be issued in appropriate cases where a FPN is more 
appropriate than a court prosecution. Each case will be assessed on its merits.  
 
The penalty levels for Fixed Penalty Notices are set by central government and cannot 
be changed by Gravesham Borough Council, unless there is change in legislation. 
However, Gravesham Borough Council’s penalties are set at the maximum amount 
permissible. 
 
Littering FPN - £150 
Dog Fouling - £75 
Fly Tipping FPN - £400 
Failure in duty of care FPN - £400 
Waste carriage offences FPN - £400 
Breach of Community Protection Notice - £100 
 
There is no formal appeal against a Fixed Penalty Notice. If the recipient does do not 
agree that they are guilty of the offence, they can request a court hearing. However, it is 
worth noting that if the case is tried at court and the court finds the offender guilty a much 
higher penalty will result. 
 
If the offender fails to pay a FPN, the environmental enforcement team, will produce a 
case file for court prosecution. If convicted offenders face a much higher penalty and a 
criminal record. 
 

4. Court Prosecution 
 
In serious cases, the Environmental Enforcement Team will prepare a file and prosecute 
offenders at court. Some environmental offences can be prosecuted at Magistrates or 
Crown Court. 
 
A decision to prosecute at court will rely on a number of factors; however, each case will 
be assessed on an individual basis. 
 
The matters considered when considering court prosecution include: 

Page 19



10 

  The amount of waste deposited and clear up costs. 
  The items that have been deposited. 
  The location. 
  The impact upon the neighbourhood, community or landowner. 
  The impact upon the environment and ecosystem. 
  The honesty of the offender. 
  The offender’s willingness to cooperate with the enquiry. 
  If the offender has committed offences before and/or has had previous sanctions 

imposed on them. 
 

We will only prosecute cases, which reach the threshold of evidence, proportionality and are 
in the public interest.  

All enforcement decisions and actions are made with due regard to the provisions of:  

  The Human Rights Act 1998  
  The Crime and Disorder Act 1998  
  Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984  
  Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996  
  Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
  Freedom of Information Act 2000  
  Equalities Act 2010  
  Equal rights and anti-discrimination legislation 

 

With any Court prosecution case GBC will always attempt to reclaim costs from a successful 
prosecution. 

Proactive Enforcement Action 

The use of Covert and Overt cameras 

The Environmental Enforcement Team will use CCTV evidence captured by public and 
private camera systems in their investigations. 

We will also deploy our own covert cameras to locations, which are identified as fly tipping 
‘hot spots’. Covert cameras allow the team to detect offences, which occur in remote and 
secluded locations, which are often the target of fly tippers. Deployment of cameras is only 
undertaken after a strict assessment process and all deployments comply with Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) surveillance and data protection legislation. 

Joint operations with partner agencies 

The Environmental Enforcement Team carry out regular proactive joint operations with 
partner agencies, including Kent Police. The operations called Operation Assist allow us to 
use the police powers to stop vehicles involved in the carriage of controlled waste. Officers 
are then able to examine documentation and any waste carried to ascertain that the carrier 
is licenced with The Environment Agency and has completed the required waste transfer 
documentation.  

In addition, the police and partner agencies will deal with any other criminal or road traffic 
offences that come to light. 

Page 20



11 

In the year 2021-22 Gravesham Borough Council carried out Five (5) such operations. 
These led to a number of prosecutions and the issuing of Fixed Penalty Notices. In addition, 
a number of vehicles, which were being used to carry controlled waste, were seized by Kent 
Police officers. 

 

 

Reporting Fly tipping 

Fly tipping can be reported to Gravesham Borough Council through the customer telephone 
contact centre on 01474 337000 or online on the GBC website at: 

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/keeping-gravesham-clean/flytipping-littering 

Once an offence is reported, it is given a unique reference number. 

All reports are triaged by the Environmental Enforcement manager to ensure that the matter 
is a fly tipping and has not been previously reported. 

The report is assessed to ascertain if there is likely to be any evidential evidence within the 
waste or other evidence capture possibilities in the area. 

If there is no possibility of evidential capture the report is passed to the Waste Management 
Unit for immediate clearance. 

If there is any chance of evidence capture a member of the Environmental Enforcement 
team will attend, search the waste and seek witnesses and/or CCTV evidence. 

Members of the public and council staff are encouraged to report all fly tipping offences as 
soon as possible. This enables a detailed picture to be built of fly tipping ‘hot spots’ and 
allows officers to attend and gather evidence with a view to identifying offenders. 

Page 21

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/keeping-gravesham-clean/flytipping-littering


12 

 
 

Fly tipping reports  

The number of reports of fly tipping to Gravesham Borough Council have reduced in the last 
three years. This is despite the process of reporting being simplified and the community and 
all our staff being encouraged to make reports of incidents. 

Each report of fly tipping is triaged and scrutinised by the Environmental Enforcement 
Manager. Those which are non-relevant reports, are duplicates, or do not fit the definition of 
fly tipping are not progressed. 

A strong media campaign by Gravesham Borough Council Waste Management Unit and 
Kent County Council has ensured that the community and our residents have access to 
current information regarding the correct methods of waste disposal and the location of 
Household Waste and Recycling Sites. 

Where fly tipping offences occur and investigations lead to enforcement action, we ensure 
that, our communities are aware of the outcome and the consequences of environmental 
crime through regular media coverage. In the case of court convictions the name and area of 
residence of the offenders is always publicised. This appears to be having a strong deterrent 
effect.     

The team’s performance is by recorded and monitored through the Corporate Management 
System and Quarterly reporting. 

The use of media in investigation and prevention 

The Environmental Enforcement Team works closely with The Gravesham Borough Council 
Media Team. 

The work involves the production of advice and educational literature, and the publicising of 
enforcement action. 

The media team regularly run campaigns relating to the correct way to dispose of waste, 
reinforcing the responsibilities of householders and businesses. 

Page 22



13 

Enforcement action undertaken is publicised to highlight the consequences of committing 
environmental crime. Anyone found guilty of environmental offences at court will be ‘named 
and shamed’ either on social media or in local news outlets. 

The Environmental Enforcement Team also regularly seek help from the public in their 
investigations by posting appeals on social media and in the press. 

The social media posts have seen some of the most positive comments of all media updates 
that the communications team have posted.   

Below are some examples of the media releases and comments received regarding our 
work- 

 

Page 23



14 

Page 24



Classification: Public 
Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 

Date: 1 June 2022 

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities) 

Subject: Neighbourhood Policing Review 

Purpose and summary of report:  
To report Kent Police’s Neighbourhood Policing Review. 

Recommendations: 
1. That the Committee comments on the Neighbourhood Policing Review and considers 

whether those points are incorporated into a written response to the Review by the 
Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure. 
 

Key Implications: 
Item Implications 
Legal No implications. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

No implications. 

Corporate Plan #1 People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, 
clean and attractive borough their home. 

Climate Change  No direct implications. 

 
 

1. Kent Police - Neighbourhood Policing Review 

1.1 Kent Police are undertaking a Review of Neighbourhood Policing in response to 
the Government’s Police Uplift Programme and a commitment to additional police 
officers for Kent by March 2023. 

1.2 The scope of the Review is set out in the Public Briefing Note attached as 
Appendix 1.  This was sent to all Members in March. 

1.3 Gravesham’s Community Safety Partnership considered the Review at its meeting 
in April and a response from the Partnership is attached in Appendix 2. 

Page 25 Agenda Item 6



2

1.4 Members are asked to comment on the Review and consider whether their views 
are incorporated into a response to the Review by the Cabinet Member for 
Community & Leisure. 

2. Appendices 

2.1 Appendix 1 - Neighbourhood Policing – Kent Police Public Briefing Note 

2.2 Appendix 2 – Neighbourhood Policing – Response from Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership 

3. Background Documents  

3.1 There are no background documents. 

Lead Officer:  Simon Hookway, Assistant Director (Communities) 

Email:  Simon.hookway@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 26

mailto:Simon.hookway@gravesham.gov.uk


3

Secondary Implications  
Risk Assessment No implications. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  
a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 

processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 
No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 
 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 
No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 
No. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The level and pattern of Neighbourhood Policing within Gravesham has a direct 
bearing on crime and disorder. 

Digital and website 
implications 

No implications.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

Kent Police are a key partner in the safeguarding activity.  

Page 27

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Version: 1 
15 March 2022

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Neighbourhood Policing Review 
 
Public briefing note 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Version: 1 
15 March 2022

Background 

The most recent financial grant from the Government has been ringfenced for the Police 
Uplift Programme to secure an additional 185 police officers for Kent by March 2023. This 
will take the Kent Police officer establishment to 4,145. 

The increase in police officer numbers – the highest in the force’s history – gives us an 
opportunity to examine whether we have the right mix of officers, staff, and PCSOs, and the 
roles they are performing to ensure we are as efficient and effective in the way we serve the 
people of Kent. 
 
The review 

The Chief Constable has directed the force carries out a review of neighbourhood policing, 
with the remit that the service provided to the public has to be enhanced where possible 
and not fall below the high standard we currently provide. 
 
There will likely be changes to how we are structured and deliver business, but local policing 
will continue to be at the heart of everything we do and our commitment and dedication to 
the victims, witnesses and communities of Kent will remain unchanged.  
 
Kent Police remains committed to providing a visible police presence and to ensuring its 
local policing provision is as efficient and as effective as it can be. 
 
The review is being led by the Assistant Chief Constable for Local Policing and supported by 
the Kent Police Change Team. The engagement phase is expected to last approximately 
three months and will see officers, staff, stakeholders, and the public consulted and updated 
appropriately throughout.  
 
No decision will be made with regards to any future establishments until the review is 
completed. It is anticipated that options will be submitted for Chief Officer consideration and 
approved within six months. The implementation of any changes may take many months to 
ensure the high quality of service to the public is maintained.  
 
Ensuring a quality service 

We are currently exploring how we can ensure that the review process and changes to 
officer and staff numbers or roles does not impact on the service being provided to the 
public. This includes options to re-deploy resources to support teams involved in 
neighbourhood policing.  
 
We will also commit to Chief Officer-set expectations of quality of neighbourhood policing. 
This will include our commitment to maintaining and building on our engagement activities 
during this period, maintaining our support for the vulnerable, and our commitment to 
working with partners to problem solve with our communities. 

Page 30



 

 

23 May 2022 

Ch. Insp. Matthew Burbeck 

Kent Police Headquarters 

Thames Way 

Northfleet 

Kent DA 

 

Dear Ch. Insp. Burbeck, 

 

Kent Neighbourhood Policing Review – Consultation Response 

 

On behalf of the Gravesham Community Safety Partnership, I would like to thank you for attending 

our meeting on 21 April 2022 and for your presentation on the New Neighbourhood Policing Model 

that is being developed.  I am grateful for the opportunity for this consultation and to be able to offer 

our views and comments.   

 

Clearly policing, just as all other public services, is facing considerable challenges and demands on 

resources and it is right to review the way in which the service is being delivered to ensure that it is 

as effective and efficient as possible.  However, it is our view that Neighbourhood Policing is at the 

heart of everything the service aims to achieve; it is fundamental in keeping our communities and 

local people safe.  Therefore, the impact of any changes to the existing policing model should be 

very carefully considered.  There are several key points that I would like to make and that I hope can 

be borne in mind: 

 

• The importance of PCSOs within our local neighbourhoods 

Throughout the Borough, the value and appreciation of the visible presence of PCSOs cannot 

be underestimated.  Many PCSOs remain the key point of contact between local people and 

the police.  They are well-known within their local areas, understand the issues specific to 

their area and have built public confidence and trust with both residents and local Ward 

Councillors.  Their presence in itself helps to prevent crime and ASB but it also provides an 

opportunity for interaction with residents and intelligence-gathering.  For some of the more 

vulnerable members of our communities, the PCSOs foot patrols provide considerable 

reassurance.  We would not wish to see a policing model that weakens or removes the role 

of PCSOs.  Even if they were replaced by police officers, if the latter were to be primarily 

patrolling areas in vehicles rather than on foot (as most PCSOs still do), a very valuable 

relationship between local people and police will have been lost. 

 

• The focus on prevention 

As a CSP one of our key priorities is preventative work and I would request that in determining 

the new neighbourhood policing model, there is a balanced approach to ensure that there is 

c/o Community Safety Unit 

Civic Centre 

Windmill Street 

Gravesend 

Kent DA12 1AU 

Page 31



adequate resourcing of prevention.  Whilst, of course, crime and ASB requires a full response 

and thorough investigation, work to prevent offences occurring at all not only spares potential 

victims from coming to harm but also reduces the strain on resources post incident.  

Preventative work, particularly to safeguard vulnerable adults and young people from harm 

needs to remain a priority and therefore, I would ask that specialist roles currently carrying 

out this work are not removed but remain embedded in the new policing model. 

 

• Community focus 

The needs of and issues facing local neighbourhoods across the county will vary and the 

new policing model needs to take account of that i.e., a ‘one size fits all’ approach to the 

model will not necessarily meet local needs.  Gravesham has the most diverse population in 

Kent with some pockets of much higher-than-average levels of deprivation. Other Districts 

and Medway will have their own particular features.  There should be some flexibility built 

within the new model that allows the service to adapt to meet the specific and varied needs 

of different communities and areas. 

 

• Consultation about the new policing model 

As mentioned, we are grateful as a CSP to have the opportunity to offer our views.  I believe 

it is also imperative that as much encouragement as possible is given to local people to 

provide their comments directly.  Equally, I am sure that there will have been thorough 

consultation throughout the ranks within the service itself as the new model will affect officers 

and other staff personally.  Within any large organisation any significant and successful 

changes to working practices always need the full input of foot soldiers – the people working 

at ground level are generally the ones who will fully understand the implications for the 

communities they serve.  I hope that that internal consultation has also taken place so that 

the knowledge and experience of those is able to feed into the process. 

 

The above are the key points that we feel are the most important to highlight and I hope that they 

are constructive and helpful to you.  Please be assured that you have our full support and 

commitment to working with you in ensuring that that the new policing model is a positive 

development for improving community safety in Kent.   We look forward to hearing from you again 

once the consultation period has come to an end and learning how plans are progressing. 

 

Kind regards, 

 

 
 

Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox 

Chair, Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 

Cabinet Member (Community and Leisure), Gravesham Borough Council   

 

 

Page 32



Classification: Public 
Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 

Date: 1 June 2022 

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities) 

Subject: Queen’s Baton Relay – Commonwealth Games 

Purpose and summary of report:  
To report Gravesham’s participation in the Queen’s Baton Relay (QBR) in advance of the 
opening of the Commonwealth Games in July 2022. 

Recommendations: 
1. That the Committee notes and comments on the plans for receiving the Queen’s 

Baton Relay in Gravesham on 8 July 2020. 
 

Key Implications: 
Item Implications 
Legal Partner local authorities have been asked to sign a Host 

Agreement with the Queen’s Baton Relay National Steering 
Group.  This confirms roles and responsibilities and has been 
signed. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The QBR is an opportunity to promote the Borough and its 
connections to the Commonwealth.  A budget of £7,500 has been 
allocated to cover security, additional dressing materials and 
street entertainment. 

Corporate Plan #2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive 
local economy taking advantage of growth in the area, supported 
by its strong and active community. 

Climate Change  Plans are being reviewed to minimise the use of vehicles and the 
use of single use dressing materials. 

 
 

1. Queen’s Baton Relay 

1.1 The Queen’s Baton Relay (QBR) set off on its journey throughout 72 
Commonwealth nations and territories in October 2021 and returns to the UK prior 
to the Opening Ceremony of the Commonwealth Games in Birmingham/West 
Midlands on 28 July 2021. 

1.2 The Queen’s Baton Relay will visit all regions of the UK over a 25 day period, with 
the South East Region having 2 days on the 6th & 7th July 2022 and Kent receiving 

Page 33 Agenda Item 8



2

the Baton on the 7th.  Gravesham made its case for the Baton to visit the most 
ethnically diverse Borough of the County with strong and historic links to the 
Commonwealth.  As a consequence the Borough has been added to the Baton’s 
route with its departure from Gravesend on the morning of Friday 8th July prior to a 
hand-over to the Eastern Region at Tilbury. 

1.3 The planning structure for the QBR includes a National Steering Group, Regional 
Planning Boards and local authority host partners.  Local authority partners have 
been asked to sign a Host Agreement. 

1.4 This report gives detail on the proposed Baton route in Gravesend and the 
communication opportunities.  Officers are working with the Gurdwara, Kent 
Equality Cohesion Council, Port of London Authority, local schools and sports 
clubs to put in place arrangements for the event. 

1.5 Participating towns were announced nationally by the QBR National Steering 
Group on 11 May.  An article has been prepared for Your Borough, including an 
indicative route and this is attached as Appendix 2. 

2. Queen’s Baton Relay Themes 

2.1 The Queen’s Baton Relay is focusing on the following themes many of which will 
be reflected in national and local communications: 

   

3. Route 

3.1 The Queen’s Baton Relay Regional Planning Group was particularly attracted to 
starting the relay route at the Gurdwara to create an iconic photo/key media 
moment.  This will also take the form of a multi-faith reflection outside the 
Gurdwara at 08:00am. 

3.2 The Baton will then enter ‘Relay Mode’ and depart at 08:15am, being carried by 
Baton bearers as it takes a route through the Town Centre to Town Pier Pontoon 
where it will be taken by launch over to Tilbury (depart 09:00am). 

3.3 The Baton bearer will be accompanied by a small convoy of operational vehicles, 
although we anticipate that this may ‘Split’ through the pedestrianised core of the 

Page 34



3

Town Centre and convoy vehicles will be required at Tilbury to commence the 
Relay in the Eastern Region. 

3.4 Schools are being invited to view the Queen’s Baton being carried through the 
Town Centre and media communications will be focused on encouraging the 
public to turn out to welcome it.  It is the intention to animate the Queen’s Baron 
Relay route with bands playing music and placed at baton ‘hand-over’ and other 
strategic points on the route. 

3.5 Baton bearers have been nominated nationally by the public and will be allocated 
to a route closest to their place of residence.  These will be supplemented by 
other baton bearers nominated due to their sporting achievements. 

3.6 The Baton will take a launch to Tilbury as it departs Gravesham from Town Pier 
Pontoon.  The Port of London Authority have offered to help with this, and officers 
are liaising with the Port of Tilbury/Thurrock on the hand-over. 

3.7 This is a relatively short visit - one of 200 locations nationally – and the route may 
need refinement as more detailed discussions take place with the QBR’s Route 
Event Manager. 

3.8 Event and traffic management plan preparations have commenced, and these will 
be reported to Gravesham’s Safety Advisory Group shortly.  West Midlands Police 
are responsible for planning, developing, and implementing the core security 
arrangements for the Queen’s Baton and Baton bearers.  Local Kent Police 
colleagues have been invited to the local planning group.   

4. Communications 

4.1 The QBR has hosted national and regional communications briefings and local 
announcements in respect of participating towns.  Detail of the route and events 
activity can be announced locally once all aspects have been confirmed. 

4.2 The Regional Planning Board will work with local authorities to promote the Relay 
and to maximise opportunities to showcase the area’s heritage and culture in line 
with the key QBR themes.  

4.3 The National Organising Committee has been building awareness of the QBR 
journey through the UK media and has established strong engagement with the 
BBC – The One Show, BBC Radio 2 and across all their TV and radio news.  

4.4 Local authorities are encouraged to maximise the announcements by preparing 
marketing and communications in advance, issuing press releases to local media, 
updating websites, publishing social media and nominating a media spokesperson 
for interviews.  A key objective will be to promote the QBR event to bring the local 
community together and to ensure an excellent turn-out for its route in 
Gravesham. 

4.5 The Town will remain dressed for the Platinum Jubilee until early July and Union 
and Platinum Jubilee flags will remain in position for the QBR.  

4.6 The Queen’s Baton Relay have prepared educational resources for schools to 
(Educational Resources (birmingham2022.com)) designed to help pupils to 
understand the Birmingham 2022 Commonwealth Games.  Local schools will be 
advised of these. 

Page 35

https://www.birmingham2022.com/queens-baton-relay/


4

5. Appendices 

5.1 Appendix 1 - Your Borough Article 

6. Background Documents  

6.1 There are no background documents. 

Lead Officer:  Simon Hookway, Assistant Director (Communities) 

Email:  Simon.hookway@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 36

mailto:Simon.hookway@gravesham.gov.uk


5

Secondary Implications  
Risk Assessment The council is responsible for public safety planning and services (security, health 

and safety).  Event and traffic management plans will be submitted to the Safety 
Advisory Group for comment and approval. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  
a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 

processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 
No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 
 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 
No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 
Yes.  The QBR celebrates Commonwealth communities and the diversity of 
Gravesham’s population. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder No direct implications. 

Digital and website 
implications 

The council’s website and Visit Gravesend website and social media channels will 
be used to promote the QBR in Gravesham.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

Safeguarding will be incorporated into the event management plan.  

Page 37

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



GRAVESEND

FRIDAY 8 JULY 
BETWEEN 8AM AND 9AM 

W
in

dm
ill

 S
tr

ee
t King Street

H
ig

h 
S t

re
et

New Road

Manor Road

W
el

lin
gt

on
 S

tr
ee

t

Wilfred St

Co

m
m

er
ci

al 
Plac

e

G
or

do
n 

Pl
ac

e

Ca
na

l R
oa

d

S
t. Jam

e’s S
treet

St. James’s Road

Arthur Street West

Clifton Road

M
ilt

on
 P

la
ce

Th
e 

G
ro

ve

W
el

lin
gt

on
 S

tr
ee

t

Cu
m

be
rla

n 
Av

e

E
de

n 
P l

ac
e

Th
e 

Av
en

ue

St. Andrews Rd

Saddington Street

Q
ue

en
 S

tr
ee

t

Zion Place

North St

East Terrace

Spencer Street

Ea
st

 C
re

sc
en

t 
R

oa
d

W
es

t 
Cr

es
ce

nt
 R

oa
d

Arthur Street

Bernard St

Ca
m

br
ia

n 
G

ro
ve

B
en

tle
y 

St
re

et

W
in

dm
ill

 S
tr

ee
t

N
ew

 S
w

an
 Y

ar
d

H
orn Yard

B
er

kl
ey

 R
oa

d

M
ilt

on
 P

la
ce

Darnley Street

Cobham Street

Au
gu

st
in

e 
R

oa
dPark Place

G
arrick S

treet

Gran
ge R

oad

Ed
w

in
 S

tr
ee

t

The Terrace

P
ri
nc

es
 S

tr
ee

t

C
ut

m
or

e 
St

re
et

Bank Street

Lennox Avenue

N
or

m
an

s 
C
lo

se

S
t.

 J
am

es
’s

 A
ve

nu
e

Clifton Marine Parade

G
or

do
n 

Pr
om

en
ad

e 

B
ra

nd
on

 S
tr

ee
t

Ed
w

in
 S

tr
ee

t

Ordnance Road

Th
e 

G
ro

ve

Jury St

Pe
ac

oc
k 

St
re

et

Al
bi

on
 R

oa
d

Stone S
treet

Cl
ar

en
do

n 
R

oa
d

D
ar

nl
ey

 R
oa

d

Royal Pier Road

Al
an

br
oo

ke

Church Street

Albion Terrace

Pe
ac

oc
k 

St
re

et

Bligh Road

S
he

pp
y 

P
la

ce

William Street

Trinity Road

Ar
m

ou
ry

 D
riv

e

Christ
 Church

 Rd

Portland Road

Essex Road

Clarence Row

South Hilll R
oad

Sh
ru

bb
ery

 R
oa

d

Clarence Place

W
el

lin
gt

on
 S

tr
ee

t

Armoury Drive

South Hill Road

Wingfield Road

Kent Road

Rouge Lane

Trafalgar Road

Wate
rloo

Street

Cl
ift

on
 G

ro
ve

Bronte V iew

Constitution Hill

H
om

em
ead

Terrace
Street

Khartoum Pl

Lennox Road East

Th
e 

Av
en

ue

D
ar

nl
ey

 R
oa

d

Lennox Road

A

rtillery  Row

Haig Gardens

A226 Milton Road

Crooked Lane

Lord Street

A2
26

 H
ar

m
er

 S
tr

ee
t

B
at

h
St

re
et

A226 The Terrace

Berkley CrescentClive Road

Overcliffe New Road

Barrack Row

West Street

A2
2

6
P
ar

ro
ck

 S
tr

ee
t

A2
27

 W
ro

th
am

 R
oa

d

Woodville Pl

Thames Way

Thames Way

Pelh
am

 R
oa

d 

D
ar

nl
ey

 R
oa

d

B256 West Street

B
25

6
 S

tu
ar

t 
R

oa
d

Parrock Street 

Parrock Street

W
in

dm
ill

 S
tr

ee
t

RiRiveverrssiiddee 
LLeieissuurree 
AreAreaa

Gordon PromenadeGordon Promenade

St Andrew’s
Gardens

St Andrew’s
Gardens

St Andrew’s
Quay

St Andrew’s
Quay

30

Windmill
Gardens
Windmill
Gardens

HERITAGE
QUARTER

SupermarketSupermarket

Business &
Retail Park
Business &
Retail Park

St George’s
Shopping Centre

St George’s
Shopping Centre

TThhaammesesggateate 
SShhooppppiingng Ce Cennttrree

Gravesend
Market
Gravesend
Market

Bat & Ball
Cricket Ground

Bat & Ball
Cricket Ground

Destinations

B2

B2

C3
E1

C3

C2

D2

C1

C2

E3

C2

C1

01

02

03

04

05

06

07

08

09

10

11

12

Adult Education Centre

Bus Station

Civic Centre
The Chantry

Community Square

C3Emmanuel Baptist Church

Gravesend Borough Market

Gravesend Clock Tower

D2Gravesend Methodist Church

B2Gravesham Community Hospital

Gravesend Old Town Hall

Gravesend Railway Station

Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara

Library

E1New Tavern Fort

Pocahontas Statue

C3

13

Police Contact Point

14

D1

15

E2Riverside Leisure Area

16

Royal Terrace Pier

D1

C1

C2

C2

C1

C2

C1

D4

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24
25

26

27

28

29

St Andrew's Arts Centre

B2SE Cycle Hub

E2Skatepark

St George's Church

St George's Shopping Centre

D2St John’s RC Church

Thamesgate Shopping Centre

Town Pier, Pontoon & Ferry

Visitor Information

West Street Pier

Windmill Gardens30

31 C3The Woodville 

Bus Station

Bus Stop

Car Park

Cycle Parking

Key

Church

N

A B C D E

A B C D E

1

2

3

4

2

1

3

4

A226
To Northfleet

A226
To Rochester

A227

A2
To

Escalator

Pedestrian Footpath

Pedestrianised Road

Public Toilets

Railway Station

Saxon Shore Way

Taxi Rank

Visitor Information

Wealdway Walk

Hospital (Minor Injuries)

Post Office

National Cycle Network Route 1

Lift

Gurdwara
(Start)

The Birmingham 2022 Queen’s 
Baton Relay will visit Gravesend 
during its journey through 
England to the Opening 
Ceremony of the Birmingham 
2022 Commonwealth Games. 

FRIDAY 8 JULY 
THE ROUTE THROUGH 
GRAVESEND 

The Queen’s Baton Relay brings together 
and celebrates communities across the 
Commonwealth during the build up to the 
Games and will travel the length and breadth 
of England for 29 days, before culminating 
at the Opening Ceremony for Birmingham 
2022 on 28 July 2022. 

On Friday 8 July, Gravesend will officially 
welcome the Baton between 8am and 
9am, with entertainment and celebrations 
organised by ourselves and our partners 
Cohesion Plus.

During its time in the town, the Queen’s 
Baton Relay will visit the Guru Nanak Darbar 
Gurdwara, before being carried through the 
streets to Town Pier, where it will be taken 
on board a boat and ferried across to Tilbury 
from where it will start its tour of Eastern 
England.

Council Leader Cllr John Burden, said: 
“Gravesend and our friends across the 
water in Tilbury have some of the deepest 
links with the Commonwealth in the country, 
so it is especially pleasing to welcome the 
Queen’s Baton Relay to the town.

“In June it will be 74 years since the SS 
Empire Windrush arrived at Tilbury Docks 
carrying the first Caribbean migrants to 
the UK, who would go on to help re-build 
Britain after the Second World War.

“Some of those first arrivals made their 
way over the water here to Gravesend, 
where they settled and laid the 
foundations of a community that still 
thrives here today, living, working and 
playing alongside others with their family 
roots firmly embedded in Commonwealth 
countries and elsewhere.

“The visit of the Queen’s Baton Relay is 
high profile recognition of how our town 
and Borough has welcomed our cousins 
from the Commonwealth and beyond with 
open arms.” 

Thousands of Batonbearers will have the 
honour of carrying the Baton during the 
journey through England.

Travelling via land, air and sea, Gravesend 
is one of more than 180 communities in 
England to experience the Queen’s Baton 
on a route spanning 2,500 miles (4,000 
kilometres). 

The Birmingham 2022 Queen’s Baton 
Relay began at Buckingham Palace on 7 
October 2021, when The Queen placed 
Her Message to the Commonwealth 
into the Baton and passed it to four-time 
Paralympic gold medallist Kadeena Cox, 
who had the honour of being the first of 
thousands of Batonbearers. 

Since then, the Baton has visited 
Commonwealth nations and territories in 
Europe, Africa, Oceania, the Caribbean, 
the Americas, and more countries in 
Europe

Phil Batty, Director of Ceremonies, Culture 
& Queen’s Baton Relay, said: “Whilst 
the Baton has been travelling across the 
Commonwealth, we have worked closely 
with Local Authorities in England to devise 
a route that engages with hundreds of 
communities, passing sport venues, 
historic sites, local schools and Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

“Yet the Queen’s Baton Relay is far 
more than just a journey. It symbolises 
connecting people from every corner 
of the Commonwealth and celebrates 
Batonbearers who take on challenges. 

“By the time the Baton returns to England 
for the final leg, 71 nations and territories 
will have already experienced the magic 
that comes with it.

“We hope that communities across the 
country join the excitement, attend events 
near them, line the streets to cheer on our 
incredible Batonbearers and celebrate the 
Birmingham 2022 Commonwealth Games.” 

THE QUEEN’S BATON 
The Queen’s Baton for Birmingham 
2022 was created in a West Midlands 
collaboration that fused art, technology 
and science. Made from copper, 
aluminium and steel, the Baton also 
features a platinum strand in homage to 
The Queen in her Platinum Jubilee year. 
It is also equipped with cutting-edge 
technology; 360-degree camera, heart 
rate monitor, atmospheric sensors and 
LED lighting. 

Final route details subject to confirmation

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public 
Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Community & Leisure Committee 

Date: 1 June 2022 

Reporting officer: Simon Hookway - Assistant Director (Communities) 

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Four 2021-22 

Purpose and summary of report:  
To present Members of the Community & Leisure Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Four 2021-22 (January to March 2022). 
 

Recommendations: 
1. This report is for information purposes only.  

Key Implications: 
Item Implications 
Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s 

policy framework as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will 
ensure the council has in place an effective framework to deliver 
its responsibilities and ensure better results for vulnerable local 
residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 
 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of 
the Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based 
and which therefore should be accounted for as part of on-going 
financial planning processes. 
 

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition 
and objectives for the authority over the 2019-23 period. This 
report provides the Committee with a quarterly assessment of how 
the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
Performance Management Framework. 
 

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, 
initiatives and work involved in the delivery of the council's 
Corporate Plan. As a core policy commitment of the council, 
efforts in this area are represented within corporate objective #1: 
People. 
 

 

Page 41 Agenda Item 9



2

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the authority’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four-year period.   

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high-quality services, a 
sound performance management process is required to be implemented.  

1.3 Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to Members and residents.  

2. Performance management: process 

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions.  

2.2 Appendix 1 to this report provides Members of the Community & Leisure 
Committee with an overview of the council’s performance against the Corporate 
Plan for Quarter Four 2021-22, covering the period January to March 2022.  

2.3 Statistical performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
appropriate reporting cycle.  

2.4 Alongside statistical content, the Appendix provides supporting detailed qualitative 
updates outlining what activity the council has delivered, and what is to be taken, 
to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s objectives and policy commitments 
relating to the portfolio for the 2019-23 period.    

2.5 This report is for information purposes only. 
 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

Appendix 1: Community & Leisure Portfolio – Q4 2021-22 
 

4. Background papers 

  Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23.  

  Gravesham Borough Council: PMF 2019-23. 

 
Lead Officer:  

 
Simon Hookway - Assistant Director (Communities) 

Email:  simon.hookway@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 42

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance


3

Secondary Implications  
Risk Assessment Implementation of a PMF allows the council to evidence how successful it is in 

achieving against its stated objectives and provides residents accountability in how 
it is administering its resources. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  
a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 

processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 
No. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 
Click here to start typing 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 
 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 
Click here to start typing 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 
No. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 
No. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People. 

Digital and website 
implications 

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.  

Page 43

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

C O M M U N I T Y  &  L E I S U R E  
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  4  :  2  0  2  1  -  2  2

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 45



P I  1 Total number of reported crime offences

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 3,143 3,225 3,211 3,245

2020-21 2,670 3,056 2,806 2,471

2021-22 2,888 3,066 2,950 2,865

2022-23

P I  2 Total number of reported incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 636 774 556 685

2020-21 1,312 1,098 874 982

2021-22 811 588 418 405

2022-23

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
1. Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, detection and 
reduction of crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding of local residents.
Key work completed or supported by the CSU during Qtr 4 includes:
•	Annual Strategic Assessment process (audit of crime and ASB) completed on behalf of 
Gravesham Community Safety Partnership.  Good reductions were recorded in respect of both 
total crime and in ASB and these appear to be being sustained, particularly when compared with 
the levels of offences in the pre-Covid or ‘normal’ year of 2019-20.  Year end figures for 2021-22 
indicate a reduction in total crime of 8.2% in Gravesham compared to 2019-20 and a reduction in 
ASB of 16.2% for the same period.  These reductions are greater than the average reductions 
Kent-wide of 5.2% (total crime) and 8.0% (ASB).
•	The CSU is working with Kent Police and the G-Safe Business Crime Reduction Partnership in 
developing a Best Bar None Scheme in the Borough to encourage local licensed premises to 
meet management standards aimed at improving safety and reducing crime/ASB particularly 
within the evening and night-time economies.  6 Police colleagues and Council Officers in total 
will receive training in April to enable them to carry out assessments with premises that wish to 
apply for Best Bar None accreditation.  A Steering Group has already been established to 
progress this work and our approach has been recognised and shared with other Districts as a 
good practice model.
•	A Domestic Abuse Coordinator has been appointed to provide a dedicated resource to support 
our work in meeting obligations created by the Domestic Abuse Act 2021.  The post is externally 
funded and will cover Dartford and Gravesham and will be based in the CSU when working in the 
Borough.
•	A programme of community engagement is being developed and we have been working with 
Kent Police in providing community ‘walkabouts’ in key locations to encourage local people to 
meet face-to-face with agencies to discuss their experiences of crime/ASB, gather information 
and provide reassurance.  A very successful event was held in Riverside Ward in February that 
was very well-attended by residents and supported by Ward Councillors, CSU, Housing, Waste 
Management, Environmental Enforcement, Kent Police, KCC Street Lighting Team and others.   
Very positive feedback was received from the residents and similar walkabouts in other areas are 
being planned and delivered monthly.
•	A full review of all the CSU permanent public space CCTV cameras has been completed to help 
inform any works to improve and/or upgrade cameras in the new financial year.
•	15 members of staff were able to complete an ASB Training Day delivered by Resolve (arranged 
by the CSU in conjunction with KCC’s CSU) and provided free of charge to the Council.    The 
focus of the training was on the use of powers e.g., Community Protection Warnings and Notices 
and Injunctions, and particularly helpful to new staff who have more recently joined the Authority.

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 46



P I  13

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 17 16 28 19

2020-21 0 7 44 79

2021-22 99 75 82 51

2022-23

In Q4, the team have carried out the following enforcement actions:
There have been 32(Thirty-Two) Community Protection warnings and One (1) Community 
Protection Notice issued.
Seven (7) £400 Fixed penalty fines were issued for fly tipping offences.
Five (5) £400 Fixed Penalties have been issued for duty of care offences.
Four (4) £150 Fines have been issued for littering.
The team have had a number of Prosecution successes at Magistrates Court:
Some examples are:
• After a fly tip was discovered in Warren Road Cobham, the person responsible for collecting the
waste was identified and prosecuted for failing in their duty of care. They were convicted and
received a fine of £1046.00, and ordered to pay a costs contribution of £531.25.
• A female who dumped a large number of boxes outside The Hive in Northfleet failed to
cooperate with Environmental Enforcement Team Officers and was convicted under S.110 of the
Environment act 1995. She was fined £500 and ordered to pay costs of £250.
• A male was convicted at Sevenoaks Magistrates for fly tipping and failing to cooperate with an
investigation. Due to his previous convictions, he was imprisoned for 6 weeks and ordered to pay 
£400 in costs and compensation. This is the first case in which a defendant has been convicted 
on the evidence of covert cameras placed in a fly tipping hot spot by Gravesham Borough Council 
and the first case in Gravesham where someone has received a custodial sentence.
The team currently have in the region of Twenty (20) other cases, which are awaiting prosecution 
or further court dates.
The year 2021-22 has seen a reduction in reports of fly tipping across the borough. In comparison 
to the 2019-2020 figure: 3269, which was before the EET came in to being, the reports for this 
year have fallen by 875 incidents to 2394.
During Q4, the team have begun 77 investigations of a complicated or protracted nature. 
The officers continue to work with national and local partner agencies to investigate large scale, 
cross border offences involving the illegal dumping of thousands of tons of contaminated waste 
across North Kent
The team have been unable to carry out proactive operations with Kent Police during Q4; 
however, it is hoped, providing that funding is available, that a number of such operations will take 
place in Q1 2022-23.
An important part of the teams work is to build strong relationships with partners and 
stakeholders, including landowners. They have recently begun work with a local vineyard to 
provide advice and support in their attempts to deter and catch fly tippers. 
In addition, the team have been working with parish councils, offering support and advice. The 
EET have worked on a joint project with Luddesdown Parish Council to deploy covert cameras in 
fly tipping hots spots in the parish. As a result, a 50-year-old male from Snodland was caught fly 
tipping and is awaiting a court appearance.
The work of the Environmental Enforcement Team is strongly supported by the work of the media 
team who have run several successful environmental crime related campaigns and publicised 
details of enforcement action and convictions.

2. Actively enforce environmental standards: use available powers to pursue anyone
committing environmental crime or damaging the local environment.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken

0

40

80

120

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 47



P I  37

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 219,508 207,957 194,043 204,620

2020-21 N/A 41,278 39,391 2,901

2021-22 74,427 102,871 105,621 130,700

2022-23

P I  38

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 7,318

2020-21 551

2021-22 1,514

2022-23

1. Design a quality and affordable leisure offer: improved facilities and creative sports 
programmes to tackle local health inequalities.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Total number of leisure centre attendees

Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees

Leisure Centres: 
Total attendance was 130,700. Comparing this to the same period of 2019 of 224,249, it equates 
to 58%. Although there has been an increase of 4% from the Q3 period comparison of 54%. 
Looking at some of the specific activity areas;
• Swimming for the January to March 2022 period was 55,756 compared to 2019 of 74,287 (75%) 
– Cascades continues to recover more positively at 84% even though the swimming lessons are 
much lower than they were in 2019.
• Sports Hall usage for the 2022 period is at 7,031 compared to 7,144 (98%). Squash is only at 
14% of the levels of 2019.
• Gym totals are at 26,447 compared to 47,116 (56%) – this is a small increase of 2% compared 
to the Q3 period of 54%.
• Group Classes are at 9,966 compared to 21,919 (45%) – again, a small increase of 2% 
compared to the Q3 period of 43%.
• Health Suite usage is at 5,010 compared to 12,213 (41%) – again, a small increase of 3% 
compared to the Q3 period of 38%.
It is well documented that, nationally, it is now expected that the recovery period is estimated to 
between 1 and 2 years – a much slower recovery than first expected, the above percentage 
increases between Q3 and Q4 is showing a positive direction of travel locally. 

Active Gravesham:
Disability Dance Project – KCC Pathways secured funding from Sport England’s Tackling 
Inequality Fund to deliver activities for those aged 16+ with a learning disability. Zumba dance 
sessions have been delivered at Cascades on a weekly basis since the last week of January, with 
an average of 12 participants take part each week.

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

2,500

5,000

7,500

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

P
age 48



P I  40

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 974 595 1,011 515

2020-21 353 417 414 386

2021-22 384 359 429 426

2022-23

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the Gr@nd healthy living services

2. Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions: work with partners to help 
support and safeguard vulnerable residents. 
The Mental Health team attended and hosted Mental Health Awareness nights with The 
Gravesend Sikh Temple, and Punjab United FC.  Inviting the local community and members of 
both facilities to listen to Mental Health advocates. The aim of the events was to highlight and 
raise awareness of Mental Health within the Asian and Sikh community and challenge taboo 
towards mental health. 

Targeted funding for BAME and Learning Disabled clients enabled the development of new 
projects.  These consisted of African Dance sessions and supporting a lady's group from the 
Mosque – who took part in kettlebell sessions.  They also worked with Kasbah and their clients 
with Learning Disabilities delivering shorter more manageable exercise sessions. 

Adult Singing – The One You Adult singing sessions have continued to grow, and the group have 
created a short video piece to show the work that has been done and what the sessions have 
meant to them, and how it has helped them with their mental health and wellbeing.  This has led 
to a show being arranged and money being raised for The Grand’s youth services. 

Key activity with young people and GYG included the launch of the ‘Report It’ video within all eight 
secondary schools leading to the GYG Committee winning the overall Spirit of TryAngles Award 
for Kent.                                                                                                                                                                               

The GYG Gone Wild Group were invited to Hadlow College to take part in their lambing day. 

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 49



P I  41

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 36

2020-21 50

2021-22 74

2022-23

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
3. Develop a cohesive and resilient community: implement a leading programme of 
engagement initiatives, showcasing the borough’s diversity and enabling greater participation in 
civic life.
Holocaust Memorial Day was marked on 27 January by flying the Holocaust Memorial Trust flag 
on community square and posting on social media.  Flags were also raised to mark LGBTQ+ 
History Month and Commonwealth Day. 

Gravesend Town centre celebrated Chinese New Year in early February with a traditional lion 
dance through St George’s Shopping Centre and New Road.  The Mayor, members and public 
were joined by Yin Tao association and Twin Dynasty.

Chantry Community Academy supported the Commonwealth Day event on community square 
delivering a quiz and helping raise the flags.  

Ten litter picks were delivered across the Borough with the Great British Spring Clean starting on 
25 March.  

Total number of community activities/events delivered by the council and in conjunction 
with its partners

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

0

25

50

75

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

P
age 50



P I  42

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 10,658 12,358 21,127 6,968

2020-21 0 2,413 3,415 241

2021-22 107 5,172 15,239 11,955

2022-23

P I  43

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 6,419 6,801 6,857 7,461

2020-21 980 6,192 4,582 2,223

2021-22 4,785 6,729 6,808 6,025

2022-23

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

January saw the end of our first panto season at the Woodville for 2 years. Robin Hood was very 
well received and despite social distancing played to capacity audiences.

Since returning to full capacity the Woodville has had several sold out shows including Country 
Superstars, The King is Back, Elvis tribute and the Two Mr P’s in a Podcast.

St George’s Arts Centre has hosted a Light Festival exhibition with Filaments arts collective.

February at St George’s Arts Centre saw a long awaited Dickens Exhibition by Louise Weir, 
delayed from 2020. This included talks about the influence of Dickens in Gravesham and a 
bespoke performance of some of Dickens works including the Signalman

The March exhibition was our first community curated event Take A Look in which local artists 
were invited to submit work for the new space. This was curated by Gravesham Arts Salon 
commissioned using Welcome Back Funding and attracted work from 54 artists and achieving 
record numbers in the gallery.

Several workshops have taken place in the Arts Centre including for both adults and children.
The market, amongst other locations, hosted a number of events and workshops funded through 
the Welcome Back Fund which supported drawing footfall through the town and to the market 
building. 

4. Enhance the borough’s cultural offer: maximise the usage of The Woodville and the 
Borough Market as community assets.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

#2 PLACE 

Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville

Average weekly Borough Market footfall

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 51



P I  44

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 4,936

2020-21 0

2021-22 3,506

2022-23

Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

The Fort and Chantry have been closed for the winter and re-open in April as normal. 

Various works to Milton Chantry have been carried out by English Heritage which include the 
repair to the front mullioned arch window and replacing the stone mullion which supports the lintel 
of the low-level blocked window in the east wall. We are also expecting a new visitor information 
panel to be installed during May. 

The Bandstand in the Fort Gardens is also undergoing some renovations which also include the 
addition of a new lighting system. The visitor Audio guides are being transferred to Apps and 
should be in place later in the season. 

The CD bunker at Woodlands Park has had x4 tours with a total of 65 visitors from January to 
March.

Annual indicator

5. Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in their community reach and 
expand the visitor economy.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

P
age 52


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Environmental Enforcement Strategy
	Appendix - Draft Environmental Enforcement Strategy

	6 Neighbourhood Policing Review
	1.	Kent Police - Neighbourhood Policing Review
	1.1	Kent Police are undertaking a Review of Neighbourhood Policing in response to the Government’s Police Uplift Programme and a commitment to additional police officers for Kent by March 2023.
	1.2	The scope of the Review is set out in the Public Briefing Note attached as Appendix 1.  This was sent to all Members in March.
	1.3	Gravesham’s Community Safety Partnership considered the Review at its meeting in April and a response from the Partnership is attached in Appendix 2.
	1.4	Members are asked to comment on the Review and consider whether their views are incorporated into a response to the Review by the Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure.

	2.	Appendices
	2.1	Appendix 1	- Neighbourhood Policing – Kent Police Public Briefing Note
	2.2	Appendix 2 – Neighbourhood Policing – Response from Gravesham Community Safety Partnership

	3.	Background Documents
	3.1	There are no background documents.

	Neighboughood Policing Review - Appendix 1
	Appendix 2 - CSP Response - Neighbourhood Policing Review

	8 Queen's Baton Relay
	1.	Queen’s Baton Relay
	1.1	The Queen’s Baton Relay (QBR) set off on its journey throughout 72 Commonwealth nations and territories in October 2021 and returns to the UK prior to the Opening Ceremony of the Commonwealth Games in Birmingham/West Midlands on 28 July 2021.
	1.2	The Queen’s Baton Relay will visit all regions of the UK over a 25 day period, with the South East Region having 2 days on the 6th & 7th July 2022 and Kent receiving the Baton on the 7th.  Gravesham made its case for the Baton to visit the most ethnically diverse Borough of the County with strong and historic links to the Commonwealth.  As a consequence the Borough has been added to the Baton’s route with its departure from Gravesend on the morning of Friday 8th July prior to a hand-over to the Eastern Region at Tilbury.
	1.3	The planning structure for the QBR includes a National Steering Group, Regional Planning Boards and local authority host partners.  Local authority partners have been asked to sign a Host Agreement.
	1.4	This report gives detail on the proposed Baton route in Gravesend and the communication opportunities.  Officers are working with the Gurdwara, Kent Equality Cohesion Council, Port of London Authority, local schools and sports clubs to put in place arrangements for the event.
	1.5	Participating towns were announced nationally by the QBR National Steering Group on 11 May.  An article has been prepared for Your Borough, including an indicative route and this is attached as Appendix 2.

	2.	Queen’s Baton Relay Themes
	2.1	The Queen’s Baton Relay is focusing on the following themes many of which will be reflected in national and local communications:

	3.	Route
	3.1	The Queen’s Baton Relay Regional Planning Group was particularly attracted to starting the relay route at the Gurdwara to create an iconic photo/key media moment.  This will also take the form of a multi-faith reflection outside the Gurdwara at 08:00am.
	3.2	The Baton will then enter ‘Relay Mode’ and depart at 08:15am, being carried by Baton bearers as it takes a route through the Town Centre to Town Pier Pontoon where it will be taken by launch over to Tilbury (depart 09:00am).
	3.3	The Baton bearer will be accompanied by a small convoy of operational vehicles, although we anticipate that this may ‘Split’ through the pedestrianised core of the Town Centre and convoy vehicles will be required at Tilbury to commence the Relay in the Eastern Region.
	3.4	Schools are being invited to view the Queen’s Baton being carried through the Town Centre and media communications will be focused on encouraging the public to turn out to welcome it.  It is the intention to animate the Queen’s Baron Relay route with bands playing music and placed at baton ‘hand-over’ and other strategic points on the route.
	3.5	Baton bearers have been nominated nationally by the public and will be allocated to a route closest to their place of residence.  These will be supplemented by other baton bearers nominated due to their sporting achievements.
	3.6	The Baton will take a launch to Tilbury as it departs Gravesham from Town Pier Pontoon.  The Port of London Authority have offered to help with this, and officers are liaising with the Port of Tilbury/Thurrock on the hand-over.
	3.7	This is a relatively short visit - one of 200 locations nationally – and the route may need refinement as more detailed discussions take place with the QBR’s Route Event Manager.
	3.8	Event and traffic management plan preparations have commenced, and these will be reported to Gravesham’s Safety Advisory Group shortly.  West Midlands Police are responsible for planning, developing, and implementing the core security arrangements for the Queen’s Baton and Baton bearers.  Local Kent Police colleagues have been invited to the local planning group.

	4.	Communications
	4.1	The QBR has hosted national and regional communications briefings and local announcements in respect of participating towns.  Detail of the route and events activity can be announced locally once all aspects have been confirmed.
	4.2	The Regional Planning Board will work with local authorities to promote the Relay and to maximise opportunities to showcase the area’s heritage and culture in line with the key QBR themes.
	4.3	The National Organising Committee has been building awareness of the QBR journey through the UK media and has established strong engagement with the BBC – The One Show, BBC Radio 2 and across all their TV and radio news.
	4.4	Local authorities are encouraged to maximise the announcements by preparing marketing and communications in advance, issuing press releases to local media, updating websites, publishing social media and nominating a media spokesperson for interviews.  A key objective will be to promote the QBR event to bring the local community together and to ensure an excellent turn-out for its route in Gravesham.
	4.5	The Town will remain dressed for the Platinum Jubilee until early July and Union and Platinum Jubilee flags will remain in position for the QBR.
	4.6	The Queen’s Baton Relay have prepared educational resources for schools to (Educational Resources (birmingham2022.com)) designed to help pupils to understand the Birmingham 2022 Commonwealth Games.  Local schools will be advised of these.

	5.	Appendices
	5.1	Appendix 1	- Your Borough Article

	6.	Background Documents
	6.1	There are no background documents.

	Appendix 1 - Your Borough Queen's Baton Relay Spread

	9 Corporate Performance Report: Q4 2021-22
	1.	Introduction
	1.1	In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The plan sets out the authority’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the council’s activities over the four-year period.
	1.2	In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high-quality services, a sound performance management process is required to be implemented.
	1.3	Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to Members and residents.

	2.	Performance management: process
	2.1	The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely performance information on which to base informed executive decisions.
	2.2	Appendix 1 to this report provides Members of the Community & Leisure Committee with an overview of the council’s performance against the Corporate Plan for Quarter Four 2021-22, covering the period January to March 2022.
	2.3	Statistical performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next appropriate reporting cycle.
	2.4	Alongside statistical content, the Appendix provides supporting detailed qualitative updates outlining what activity the council has delivered, and what is to be taken, to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s objectives and policy commitments relating to the portfolio for the 2019-23 period.
	2.5	This report is for information purposes only.

	3.	Appendices
	3.1	The following documents are to be published with the report:
	Appendix 1: Community & Leisure Portfolio – Q4 2021-22

	4.	Background papers
		Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23.
		Gravesham Borough Council: PMF 2019-23.

	Community & Leisure Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (Appendix 1)
	Q4 2021-22
	Community & Leisure Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (DRAFT).pdf
	Q4 2021-22






